FILED April 1, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

No. 72141-1-I

THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DARREN MORRIS-WOLFF,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH M. HROBSKY Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

------------------	------------	--------------	--------------	--	---

A. <u>ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. On retrial, the court's jury instruction that violation of a court order "may or may not be a crime against a person" was an impermissible comment on the evidence.

2. On retrial, the court's response to the jury inquiry for a legal definition of "crime against a person" was inconsistent with its introductory instruction and improperly allowed the attorneys' arguments to substitute for the court's instructions on the applicable law.

Prosecutorial misconduct in rebuttal argument deprived Mr.
Morris-Wolff of a fair trial.

4. On retrial, the court abused its discretion when it denied defendant's request for a curative instruction and motion for a mistrial due to prosecutorial misconduct in rebuttal argument.

5. On retrial, cumulative error deprived Mr. Morris-Wolff of a fair trial.

B. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. Article IV, section 16 of the Washington Constitution prohibits judges from commenting on the evidence. Where the court instructed the jury that violation of a court order "may or may not be a crime against a person," did the court impermissibly comment on the evidence by singling out and emphasizing a contested issue?

2. The only law upon which a jury may rely is that provided by the court in its instructions and not in attorneys' arguments. Where the jury requested "a more comprehensive or a legal definition be offered for 'a crime against a person," and the court responded "rely on all the evidence, instructions, and argument," was the response inconsistent with its introductory instruction and improperly allow the attorneys' arguments to substitute for the court's instructions on the applicable law?

3. The due process provisions of the Fourteenth Amendment and Article I, section 3 require a prosecutor to seek a verdict based on the evidence and free of prejudice. Where in rebuttal argument the prosecutor argued "facts" that were substantially misleading and were not in evidence and the majority of jurors told defense counsel after the verdict that they discussed those "facts" during deliberations and one juror stated the "facts" were a "nail in the coffin," did prosecutorial misconduct deprive Mr. Morris-Wolff of his constitutional right to due process?

4. A trial court abuses its discretion when it fails to give a curative instruction following prejudicial, improper argument by the State. Where in rebuttal argument the prosecutor argued "facts" that were substantially misleading and were not in evidence and the majority of jurors told defense counsel after the verdict that they discussed those "facts" during deliberations and one juror stated the "facts" were a "nail in the coffin,"

did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Morris-Wolff's request for a curative instruction?

5. Superior Court Criminal Rule (CrR) 7.5 authorizes a new trial when a substantial right of a defendant was materially affected by prosecutorial misconduct. Where in rebuttal argument the prosecutor argued "facts" that were substantially misleading and were not in evidence and the majority of jurors told defense counsel after the verdict that they discussed those "facts" during deliberations and one juror stated the "facts" were a "nail in the coffin," did the second trial court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Morris-Wolff's motion for a new trial due to prosecutorial misconduct?

6. A criminal defendant is entitled to a new trial when the cumulative effect of multiple errors results in a trial that was fundamentally unfair. Did the cumulative effect of the multiple instructional errors and prosecutorial misconduct in rebuttal argument result in a trial that was fundamentally unfair and requires reversal?

C. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Darren and Lisa Morris-Wolff were married for ten years and had two children. 4/8/14 RP 2195. During their marriage, Mr. Morris-Wolff was the primary childcare provider and Ms. Morris-Wolff was the primary wage earner. 6/10/14 RP 80; 6/12/14 RP 60, 62. In January 2013, Ms.

Morris-Wolff announced she wanted a divorce but, at Mr. Morris-Wolff's urging, she agreed to participate in marital counseling. 3/27/14 RP 981; 3/31/14 RP 1242; 6/10/14 RP 94. After six months of counseling, Mr. Morris-Wolff thought their relationship was improving but Ms. Morris-Wolff still wanted to end the marriage and to stop counseling. 3/31/14 RP 1244; 4/10/14 RP 2243-44, 2245.

On the morning of July 3, 2013, Mr. Morris-Wolff packed some of his belongings and was prepared to move out but he wanted to continue marital counseling. 3/31/14 RP 1265; 4/10/14 RP 2260; 6/12/14 RP 79. Ms. Morris-Wolff was unwilling to discuss the issue at that time and prepared to leave for work. 3/27/14 RP 988; 6/10/14 RP 103. Mr. Morris-Wolff's car was parked behind Ms. Morris-Wolff's car in their driveway, blocking her. 3/27/14 RP 994; 3/31/14 RP 1268. He refused to move his car unless she agreed to continue counseling. 4/10/14 RP 2260. He then suggested she call a cab or, in the alternative, call the police. 3/27/14 RP 996-97; 3/31/14 RP 1268; 6/10/14 RP 105. Ms. Morris-Wolff called the police and Mr. Morris-Wolff was arrested. 3/27/14 RP 996-97; 6/10/14 RP 105-06. Ms. Morris-Wolff obtained protection orders prohibiting him from contacting her or their children or from being within 500 feet of the family home. 3/27/14 RP 1010; 3/31/14 RP 1295; Ex. 5, 6, 7, 8, 30.

On July 11, 2013, Mr. Morris-Wolff sent a text message to Ms. Morris-Wolff and went to a neighbor's house, but she told him to leave because he was within 500 yards of the family home. 4/3/14 RP 1696, 1698; 4/10/14 RP 2383.

On August 13, 2013, Mr. Morris-Wolff repeatedly called and sent text messages to Ms. Morris-Wolff. 3/27/14 RP 1108-23; 4/10/14 RP 2354; 6/10/14 RP 134, 136. Ms. Morris-Wolff finally responded that the children needed him and were proud of him but asked him to stop calling or texting her because it was not the "right way to resolve this and can only get you into trouble." 7/1014 RP 134, 136, 140; 6/10/14 RP 140. Mr. Morris-Wolff interpreted this response as an invitation to discuss joint parenting issues in person. 4/10/14 RP 2354-55; 6/12/14 RP 97-98.

The following morning, Ms. Morris-Wolff opened the back door to let out their cat and she saw Mr. Morris-Wolff running through the back yard. 3/31/14 RP 1155, 1157; 4/1/14 RP 1387; 6/10/14 RP 146. According to Mr. Morris-Wolff, he went to the back because he did not want neighbors to see him at the home. 4/10/14 RP 2355; 6/12/14 RP 99. He called out to Ms. Morris-Wolff but she quickly closed and locked the door. 3/31/14 RP 1157; 4/10/14 RP 2356; 6/10/14 RP 147; 6/12/14 RP 100-01.

Mr. Morris-Wolff ran up to the door and saw Ms. Morris-Wolff on the telephone. 4/10/14 RP 2357; 6/12/14 RP 101. He was in "shock, disbelief" because he thought he was invited over. 4/10/14 RP 2357. When he saw her on the telephone, he realized she was calling the police to report his presence at the home in violation of the court orders. 4/10/14RP 2357; 6/10/14 RP 148; 6/12/14 RP 101. Believing he would be arrested for the violation, he wanted to say good-bye to his children and tell them he loved them. 4/10/14 RP 2357; 6/12/14 RP 101, 107. He grabbed a sledge hammer that was near the back door, broke the glass around the door knob, and reached inside to unlock the door. 3/31/14 RP 1162; 4/10/14 RP 2357; 6/10/14 RP 149.

In the meantime, Ms. Morris-Wolff sent the children upstairs and she ran out the front door to the middle of the street screaming for help and talking to the 911 operator. 3/31/14 RP 1172-73; 4/1/14 RP 1390; 6/10/14 RP 151; 6/12/14 RP 48-49. Two neighbors came outside to assist. 3/31/14 RP 1173; 4/1/14 RP 1456; 4/3/14 RP 1747, 1801; 6/10/14 RP 151. While they waited for the police to arrive, Mr. Morris-Wolff walked outside with the children, sat down with them in the driveway, and talked quietly with them for a few minutes until a neighbor took the children to her house. 3/31/14 RP 1173-74, 1176-77; 4/1/14 RP 1393, 1464; 4/3/14 RP 1748, 1752, 1801, 1803; 4/10/14 RP 2361; 6/10/14 RP 152, 154-55; 6/12/14 RP 46-47. Shortly thereafter the police arrived and Mr. Morris-Wolff was arrested. 4/1/14 RP 1395; 6/10/14 RP 100.

Mr. Morris-Wolff was charged with burglary in the first degree alleged to have occurred on August 14, 2013, or, in the alternative, residential burglary based on the same incident, stalking alleged to have occurred from July 5 - August 14, 2013, harassment alleged to have occurred on July 3, 2013, violation of a court order protecting one of the children alleged to have occurred on July 9, 2013, and violation of a court order protecting Ms. Morris-Wolff on July 11, 2013. CP 19-22. Mr. Morris-Wolff requested the jury be instructed on the lesser included offense of criminal trespass for the charges of burglary and residential burglary. 4/14/14 RP 2442-43, 2445-46; CP 60-61, 82. The court gave the lesser included instruction on the first degree burglary charge only. 4/14/14 RP 2449-50, 2455; CP 124, 125, 126.

Mr. Morris-Wolff was found not guilty of burglary in the first degree, guilty of criminal trespass in the first degree, not guilty of stalking, not guilty of harassment, not guilty of violation of the court order protecting one of his children, and guilty of violating the court order protecting Ms. Morris-Wolff. The jury hung on the charge of residential burglary. 4/14/14 RP 2638; CP 162-63, 166-70, 176, 181. In addition, the jury found Mr. and Mrs. Morris-Wolff were members of the same family or household when the two offenses were committed and the offenses were aggravated domestic violence offenses committed within the sight or sound of his children CP 164-65, 171-73.

Mr. Morris-Wolff was retried on the charge of residential burglary. On retrial, the court gave the defense proposed instruction on criminal trespass in the first degree as a lesser included offense to residential burglary. 6/12/14 RP 156; CP 252-54. Over defense objection, the court instructed the jury that a violation of a court order could be a crime against a person. 6/12/14 RP 157-58; CP 252-54. In closing argument, Mr. Morris-Wolff argued he entered the house unlawfully but contended he did not have intent to commit a crime against a person or property inside. 6/16/14 RP 46-59. Rather, he wanted to say good-bye to his children before he was arrested. *Id.* In rebuttal argument, the prosecutor argued Mr. Morris-Wolff was not attending supervised visits with his children. 6/16/14 RP 63. Mr. Morris-Wolff objected based on facts not in evidence and was overruled. Id. The prosecutor immediately repeated the allegation, defense again objected, and the second objection was sustained without explanation. 6/16/14 RP 63-65.

Based on the rebuttal argument, Mr. Morris-Wolff requested a curative instruction regarding visits with his children. 6/16/14 RP 69-70; CP 224. The request was denied. 6/16/14 RP 71-72.

During deliberations, the jury inquired, "Can a more comprehensive or a legal definition be offered for "a crime against a person" vis-à-vis instruction no. 17?" CP 229. The court responded, "There will be no additional jury instructions. Please rely on all the evidence, instructions and argument you have received." CP 229.

Mr. Morris-Wolff was convicted of residential burglary. 6/17/14 RP 74-75; CP 225. In addition, the jury found Mr. and Ms. Morris-Wolff were members of the same family or household at the time of the offense. 6/17/14 RP 75; CP 226.

Mr. Morris-Wolff moved for a new trial pursuant to CrR 7.5. 6/27/14(AM) RP 82-84; CP 261-71. The motion was denied. 6/27/14 (AM) RP 88-91; CP 272.

At sentencing, the court dismissed the conviction for criminal trespass in the first degree and imposed a sentence for residential burglary and violation of a court order. 6/27/14 2648; CP 278-86, 287.

Additional facts are discussed in further detail in the relevant following sections.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. The trial court's jury instruction that violation of a court order may or may not be a crime against a person was an impermissible comment on the evidence.

a. <u>A trial court may not comment on the evidence</u>.

Article IV, section 16 of the Washington Constitution provides:

Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law.

This section prohibits a judge from providing instructions that single out specific facts of the case when general instructions are sufficient to explain the law and allow each party to argue the theory of the case. *State v. Stone*, 24 Wn. App. 270, 273, 600 P.2d 677 (1979); *State v. Bradley*, 20 Wn. App. 340, 344, 581 P.2d 1053 (1978). The circumstances of the case "should [not] be singled out and emphasized" in jury instructions. *State v. Lewis*, 6 Wn. App. 38, 41-42, 491 P.2d 1062 (1972). In addition, a court should not provide unnecessary detailed instructions that "point up", "underline," or "buttress" one party's theory of the case. *Laudermilk v. Carpenter*, 78 Wn.2d 92, 101, 457 P.2d 1004 (1969).

A comment on the evidence may be express or implied. *State v. Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d 736, 743, 132 P.3d 126 (2006); *State v. Lampshire*, 74 Wn.2d 888, 891, 447 P.2d 727 (1968).

A statement constitutes a comment on the evidence "if the court's attitude toward the merits of the case or the court's evaluation relative to the disputed issue is inferable from the statement."

In re W.R.G., 110 Wn. App. 318, 326, 40 P.3d 1177 (2002) (quoting State

v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 838, 889 P.2d 929 (1995)).

b. Instruction No. 17 was a comment on the evidence.

Over defense objection, the court instructed the jury:

A court order violation may or may not be a "crime against a person" depending on the facts and circumstances of the violation.

6/12/14 RP 157-58; CP 249 (Instruction No. 17). This instruction was

proposed by the State and was not based on a statute or a pattern

instruction, but was based on *State v. Stinton* in which the Court ruled that violation of a provision of a protection order that restrained the defendant from harassing contact with the protected party could serve as a predicate "crime against a person" for residential burglary. 121 Wn. App. 569, 574-77, 89 P.3d 717 (2004).

By singling out and emphasizing a disputed issue, this instruction constituted a comment on the evidence. The State did not propose an instruction that defined "crime against a person" in general terms, similar to the definitional instructions for such terms as "building," "intent," and "protection order." CP 242, 243, 246. In addition, the State did not propose any parallel instructions to the effect that an attempted assault may or may not be a crime against a person or that breaking into the house may or may not be a crime against property therein.

In *State v. Eaker*, the defendant was convicted of rape of a child in the first degree based on an allegation that he demanded oral sex from an 8-year-old boy. 113 Wn. App. 111, 113, 53 P.3d 37 (2002). The court instructed the jury that to convict the defendant, the jury had to find that within the charging period the defendant had intercourse with the boy "on the day that" a woman was babysitting the boy. *Id.* at 118. On appeal, the defendant argued the instruction was a comment on the evidence in that it suggested that if a juror concluded the abuse occurred while the woman was babysitting the boy, *id.* at 118 the defendant argued the instruction was a comment on the evidence in that it suggested that if a juror concluded the abuse occurred while the woman was babysitting the charging period. *Id.* The appellate court agreed, and stated:

Because the prosecution elected a specific act and sought to identify the specific act by reference to corroborating facts, the "to convict" instruction had to be framed in a way that does not impermissibly comment on the evidence establishing these facts.

Id. at 119. Similarly here, the instruction implicitly suggested the State proved a violation of a court order.

By emphasizing the contested issue, the court implicitly bolstered the State's argument that the alleged violation of a court order established Mr. Morris-Wolff's intent to commit a crime against a person. Accordingly, the instruction was an impermissible comment on the evidence.

c. The comment was prejudicial and requires reversal.

A judicial comment on the evidence is presumed prejudicial. *State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 723, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). The State bears the burden of proving the error was harmless, unless the record affirmatively shows that no prejudice could have resulted. *Lane*, 125 Wn.2d at 838-39. A comment on the evidence requires reversal unless the record shows "the remark could not have influenced the jury." *Id.* at 839 (quoting *State v. Bogner*, 62 Wn.2d 247, 252, 382 P.2d 254 (1963)).

The State cannot meet its burden here. The central disputed question was whether Mr. Morris-Wolff entered the house with the intent to commit a crime against a person or property therein. The instruction erroneously emphasized the State's theory of the case and suggested Mr. Morris-Wolff violated a protection order. Under these circumstances, the error cannot be deemed harmless. Reversal is required. 2. The trial court's response to a jury inquiry that it could rely on argument for a legal definition was inconsistent with its introductory instruction and improperly allowed the attorney's arguments to substitute for the court's instruction on the law.

The jury submitted an inquiry regarding the applicable law:

Can a more comprehensive or a legal definition be offered for "a crime against a person" vis-à-vis instruction no. 17?

Rather than providing further instructions or referring the jury to its

original instructions, the court responded:

There will be no additional jury instructions. Please rely on all the evidence, instructions and argument you have received.

CP 229.

This response was inconsistent with its original instructions to the jury and allowed the prosecutor's argument to substitute for the court's duty to instruct the jury on the applicable law. The only law upon which a jury may rely is the law provided by the court in its instructions, not attorneys' argument. It is the duty of the court, not counsel, to define terms words used in an instruction when necessary. *State v. Stacy*, 181 Wn. App. 553, 572, 326 P.3d 136 (2014). As the jury was specifically and accurately instructed in the court's original instructions, "The law is contained in my instructions to you. You must disregard any remark, statement, or

argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions." CP 232 (Instruction No. 1).

"[A] conviction should not rest on ambiguous and equivocal instructions to the jury on a basic issue." *United States v. Bagby*, 451 F.2d 920, 927 (9th Cir.1971) (citing *Bollenbach v. United States*, 326 U.S. 607, 613, 66 S.Ct. 402 90 L.Ed. 350 (1946)). Here, a "basic issue" was whether Mr. Morris-Wolff intended to commit a crime against a person, and the issue was addressed extensively by both parties during closing argument. 6/16/14 RP 31-34, 35-37, 38-41, 43, 46-48, 51-53, 54-57, 62-65. The court's inconsistent response to the inquiry that allowed the jury to substitute argument for the law on a contested issue requires reversal. *See State v. Lewis*, 6 Wn. App. at 40 (prejudicial error in inconsistent instructions requires reversal).

- 3. The prosecutor committed misconduct in rebuttal argument by arguing facts not in evidence, in violation of Mr. Morris-Wolff's constitutional right to a fair trial.
 - a. <u>Improper and prejudicial conduct by a prosecutor</u> violates a criminal defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial.

Prosecutors, as quasi-judicial officers, have a special duty to seek a verdict free of prejudice and based on the evidence. *State v. Echevarria*, 71 Wn. App. 595, 598, 860 P.2d 420 (1993). The special duty is based on

a prosecutor's obligation to afford an accused a fair and impartial trial. *State v. Charlton*, 90 Wn.2d 657, 665, 585 P.2d 142 (1978); U.S. Const. amend. V, XIV; Wash. Const. Art. I, sec. 3. "Defendants are among the people the prosecutor represents. The prosecutor owes a duty to defendants to see that their rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not violated." *State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011).

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