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

and had violated their restrictions by his actions. 20RP 133-34,

138-41.

At the close of the State's case in the second trial, Morris-

Wolff brought a motion to dismiss, arguing in part that there was

insufficient evidence for the jury to find that his intent to violate the

3 The second trial was before a differentjudge than the first trial.
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no-contact orders by contacting his children in the home constituted

intent to commit a crime against a person. 21 RP 29-30. The State

argued that the violation of the no-contact and protection orders

was a crime against a person, and that the evidence also supported

the inference that Morris-Wolff intended to assault Lisa inside the

home. 21 RP 35-36. The trial court denied the motion. 21 RP 37.

At the close of trial, the State proposed a jury instruction

drawn from State v. Stinton4 that stated, "A protection order

violation can be ̀a crime against a person."' CP 384. Morris-Wolff

objected, arguing that it was improper because no such instruction

is included in the WPICs and because it would be a comment on

the evidence for the court to highlight only one of the two crimes

(assault and violation of a court order) that the State planned to

offer to the jury as the crime Morris-Wolff intended to commit inside

the home. 21 RP 157-60. The State argued that the instruction was

necessary because the jury in the first trial had asked questions

about this issue, and it was important to foreclose the possibility

that the jury might believe that violation of a court order could never

be a crime against a person. 21 RP 158-59. The State also argued

4 121 Wn. App. 569, 89 P.3d 717 (2004).
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that the instruction was an accurate statement of the law under

Stinton.5 21 RP 158.

The trial court noted that it would be willing to instruct the

jury on assault as well, to avoid the problem Morris-Wolff was

concerned about, though the court didn't think jurors needed

assistance in determining that assault was a crime against a

person; however, Morris-Wolff never asked the court to give such

an instruction. 21 RP 160. The court also suggested that the

Stinton instruction be modified to say that the violation of a court

order "may or may not be" a crime against a person. 21 RP 160.

Morris-Wolff agreed that if the court was going to give an instruction

from Stinton, such a change would be an improvement. 21 RP 160.

In the end, the trial court gave the jury Instruction 17, stating,

"A court order violation may or may not be ̀a crime against a

person' depending on the facts and circumstances of the violation."

CP 249. The trial court also instructed the jury on the definitions of

violation of a court order and assault. CP 246, 250.

5 It appears that the State was mistaken on this point, as Stinton analyzed
whether the violation of a court order is a crime against a person as a matter of
law, and.held that it is. Stinton, 121 Wn. App. at 574. The State thus could have
properly asked the trial court to instruct the jury that a court order violation is a
crime against a person, rather than leaving that issue for the jury. See State v.
Kindell, 181 Wn. App. 844, 851, 326 P.3d 876 (2014) (whether particular crime is
a "crime against property" in context of burglary statute is a question of law that
cannot be deferred to the jury).
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b. The Challenged Instruction Did Not Constitute
A Comment On The Evidence.

Article 4, section 16 of the Washington State Constitution

prohibits a judge from making a comment that conveys to the jury

the judge's personal opinion of the credibility, weight, or sufficiency

of evidence introduced during a trial. State v. Jacobsen, 78 Wn.2d

491, 495, 477 P.2d 1 (1970). A jury instruction challenged as a

judicial comment on the evidence is reviewed de novo, in the

context of the instructions as a whole. State v. Levv, 156 Wn.2d

709, 721, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). In evaluating whether a trial

court's words or actions amount to a comment on the evidence, the

appellate courts look at the facts and circumstances of the

particular case. Jacobsen, 78 Wn.2d at 495.

Instruction 17, when viewed in the context of the instructions

as a whole, did not convey to the jury the judge's personal opinion

regarding the credibility, weight, or sufficiency of the evidence

presented at trial. The court instructed the jury on the elements of

both violation of a court order and assault, as was necessary for the

jury to determine whether Morris-Wolff entered the residence with

the intent to commit either of those crimes, as the State had

argued. CP 246, 250; 22RP 32-33. These instructions

-13-
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communicated to the jury that they would need to determine

whether Morris-Wolff committed or intended to commit those crimes

in the residence. Instruction 17 merely gave the jury another

necessary piece of information—that if they determined Morris-

Wolff had violated or intended to violate a court order, they would

then need to determine whether that violation was a crime against a

person under the circumstances.6

Morris-Wolff claims that this constituted a comment on the

evidence because it highlighted one particular "issue" for the jury.

Brief of Appellant at 11. However, every instruction, when viewed

in isolation, highlights one particular issue for the jury—this alone

does not cause an instruction to communicate to the jury the

judge's personal feelings about the case. Here, the only reason the

court did not also issue an instruction regarding whether assault is

a crime against a person was because such an instruction was

s  

Instruction 17 was necessary in the sense that the trial court and both parties
apparently believed, based on a misreading of Stinton, that whether a violation of
a court order was a crime against a person was an issue of fact that must be
decided by the jury. In truth, Stinton held that domestic violence violation of a
court order is a crime against a person as a matter of law. 121 Wn. App. at 574
(holding, "as a matter of law," that "a protection order violation is ̀ a crime against
a person' as the residential burglary statute uses that term"); see also Kindell,
181 Wn. App. at 851 (meaning of "crime against property" in context of burglary
is issue of law that trial court must decide). The other divisions of this Court have
not directly addressed the issue in published opinions, but have cited Stinton with
approval on related issues. State v. Sanchez, 166 Wn. App. 304, 308-09, 271
P.3d 264 (2012); State v. Spencer, 128 Wn. App. 132, 138, 114 P.3d 1222
(2005).

-14-
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unnecessarily obvious. 21 RP 160. The absence of such an

instruction, which would have stated the obvious proposition that

assaulting another person is a crime against a person as a matter

of law, would not have caused a reasonable juror to interpret

Instruction 17 as an indication of the trial court's personal opinion of

the evidence. See State v. Barnett, 139 Wn.2d 462, 469, 987 P.2d

626 (1999) (assault is a crime against a person).

Because the challenged instruction did not convey to the jury

the judge's personal opinion of the credibility, weight, or sufficiency

of evidence introduced during a trial, it was not a comment on the

evidence, and Morris-Wolff's claim should be rejected.

c. Any Error Was Harmless.

If an improper judicial comment on the evidence is found to

have occurred, Washington courts presume it to be prejudicial, and

reversal is required unless the State shows that the defendant was

not prejudiced or the record affirmatively shows that no prejudice

could have resulted. State v. Hartzell, 156 Wn. App. 918, 937, 237

P.3d 928 (2010). In this case, even if this Court finds that

Instruction 17 did constitute a judicial comment on the evidence,

Morris-Wolff's conviction should nevertheless be affirmed because

-15-
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the record affirmatively shows that no prejudice could have

resulted.

The challenged instruction did not in any way indicate the

trial court's opinion of whether a violation of a court order would be

a crime against a person in Morris-Wolff's case. CP 249 ("A court

order violation may or may not be ̀a crime against a person'

depending on the facts and circumstances of the violation."). Thus,

if this Court finds it to be a comment, it would presumably be on the

theory that the instructions as a whole somehow suggested that the

trial court believed the evidence established that Morris-Wolff had

violated, or had intended to violate, a court order.

However, Morris-Wolff freely admitted in opening statement,

on the witness stand, and in closing argument that he entered the

residence with the intent to contact his children inside, and did in

fact contact them inside, despite knowing that it was a violation of

court orders to do so. 19RP 62; 21 RP 101-02; 22RP 51-54.

Indeed, his entire argument to the jury was that his sole intent in

entering the house was to talk to his children in violation of court

orders, but that this did not constitute a crime against a person

-16-
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because his motives for wanting to talk to them were benign. 22RP

F'3~~'t~

In light of the complete agreement between the parties that

Morris-Wolff violated court orders protecting his children when he

contacted them inside the residence, and had entered the home

unlawfully with the intent to do so, no prejudice could have resulted

from a judicial comment suggesting to the jury that the trial court,

like the parties, believed that Morris-Wolff had violated the court

orders. Furthermore, the trial court instructed the jury not to ascribe

any meaning to potential comments on the evidence:

It would be improper for me to express, by words or
conduct, my personal opinion about the value of
testimony or other evidence. I have not intentionally
done this. If it appeared to you that I have indicated
in any way my personal opinion in any way, either
during trial or in giving these instructions, you must
disregard this impression entirely.

CP 232. Jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions.

State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 937, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). For

these reasons, any comment on the evidence in Instruction 17 was

harmless.
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2. MORRIS-WOLFF MAY NOT RAISE FOR THE FIRST
TIME ON APPEAL HIS CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL
COURT ERRED WHEN IT RESPONDED TO A JURY
QUESTION ABOUT A LEGAL DEFINITION BY
DIRECTING THE JURY TO "RELY ON THE
EVIDENCE, INSTRUCTIONS AND ARGUMENT
YOU HAVE RECEIVED."

Morris-Wolff contends that the trial court committed

reversible error when its response to a jury question about the

definition of "crime against a person" told the jury that no additional

instructions would be forthcoming, and that they should rely on "the

evidence, instructions and argument you have received." This

claim should be rejected. Because Morris-Wolff has not

demonstrated that the alleged error is a manifest constitutional

error, he may not raise it for the first time on appeal. Furthermore,

even if this Court were to reach the merits of his claim, the trial

court's response to the jury question was not erroneous when taken

in context, and the record demonstrates that any error was

harmless.

a. Relevant Facts.

During deliberations, the jury submitted a question, stating,

"Can a more comprehensive or a legal definition be offered for ̀ a

crime against a person' vis-a-vis instruction no. 17?" CP 229. The

trial court consulted with the parties in open court to determine how
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to answer the question. 22RP 68-69. Morris-Wolff proposed that

the court instruct the jury to look at the instructions they had already

received. 22RP 69. The State concurred. 22RP 69. The trial

court agreed, and read to the parties the answer it planned to give

the jury: "There will be no additional jury instructions. Please rely

on all the evidence, instructions and argument you have received."

CP 229; 22RP 69. Neither party objected or offered any further

input. 22RP 69.

Without further comment, the trial court moved on to address

an unrelated issue with the parties. 22RP 69. At the end of that

discussion, the trial court made the proposed written answer to the

jury's question available to the parties, stating, "Here's the answer if

you want to take a look over it, otherwise it will go back to the jury."

22RP 72. The State affirmatively stated its approval; the record

does not reflect an audible response by the defense. 22RP 73.

The trial court then stated, "All right. Thank you," and adjourned the

proceedings. 22RP 73. At no point did Morris-Wolff object to the

trial court's proposed answer to the jury question.
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b. Morris-Wolff May Not Raise This Claim For
The First Time On Appeal.

Appellate courts generally will not consider an issue that is

raised for the first time on appeal. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 926. In

order to have a claim reviewed for the first time on appeal, a

defendant must demonstrate that the error is (1) manifest, and

(2) of constitutional dimension. State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98,

217 P.3d 756 (2009); RAP 2.5.

Morris-Wolff does not contend that the error he alleges is of

constitutional dimension, and the State is aware of no authority that

would support such a contention. Brief of Appellant at 14-15. He

has thus failed to establish that the trial court's answer to the jury

question was a manifest constitutional error, and this Court should

not review his claim.

Even if this Court were to find that the alleged error were of

constitutional dimension, not every alleged constitutional error is a

manifest constitutional error. State v. Lynn, 67 Wn. App. 339,

343-44, 835 P.2d 251 (1992) ("[I]t is important that ̀ manifest' be a

meaningful and operational screening device if we are to preserve

the integrity of the trial and reduce unnecessary appeals."). A

manifest error is "an error that is ̀ unmistakable, evident or
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indisputable,"' and that has "practical and identifiable

consequences in the trial of the case." State v. Hayes, 165 Wn.

App. 507, 514-15, 265 P.3d 982 (2011) (quoting State v. Burke,

163 Wn.2d 204, 224, 181 P.3d 1 (2008))

The mere possibility of prejudice is insufficient—the

defendant must show that the alleged error actually affected his

rights at trial. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 926-27. To determine

whether a defendant's claim raises a manifest constitutional error,

"The court previews the merits of the claimed constitutional error to

determine whether the argument is likely to succeed." State v.

Walsh, 143 Wn.2d 1, 8, 17 P.3d 591 (2001).

Here, the trial court's answer to the jury question neither was

obviously erroneous nor can be shown to have actually affected

Morris-Wolff's rights at trial. Nothing in the answer allowed the jury

to substitute the arguments of counsel for the court's instructions on

the law if the two conflicted, and the jury had already been

instructed to disregard any argument by the attorneys that was not

supported by the evidence or the law as set out in the jury

instructions. CP 229, 232. The court's answer simply told the

jurors that they would not be receiving the additional instruction

they had requested, and to make use of the evidence, instructions,
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and arguments they had already received to decide the case.

CP 229.

Furthermore, Morris-Wolff cannot show that this answer

actually prejudiced him. He contends that it allowed the jury to rely

on the prosecutor's arguments for the meaning of "crime against a

person," but if so, he benefitted equally from the jury being allowed

to rely on defense counsel's contrary arguments on the same topic.

Brief of Appellant at 14-15; 22RP 54-57. It is entirely possible that,

in reliance on defense counsel's closing argument, the jury decided

that Morris's violation of the court orders protecting his children

were not crimes against a person in this case, but in the end

convicted him anyway because it found that he also entered with

the intent to assault his wife inside the residence. Furthermore,

Morris-Wolff had affirmatively argued that whether a court order

violation was a crime against a person was a question of fact for

the jury to decide. 21 RP 29-30. Under that theory, the

prosecutor's arguments about whether the intended court order

violations constituted a crime against a person in this case were

arguments about issues of fact, not issues of law. Morris-Wolff

should not be allowed to now paint them as arguments about

~x~
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issues of law to create the appearance of conflict with the trial

court's instructions on the law.

Because Morris-Wolff has failed to establish that the trial

court's jury question response was obviously erroneous, caused

him prejudice, and was an error of constitutional dimension, this

Court should not allow him to raise his claim for the first time on

appeal. If this Court does decide to review his claim on the merits,

then it should nevertheless find the trial court's answer to be proper

or harmless, for the reasons stated above.

3. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS
DISCRETION IN DENYING MORRIS-WOLFF'S
MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE
MORRIS-WOLFF FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT
PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT OCCURRED.

Morris-Wolff contends that the trial court abused its

discretion in denying his motion for a new trial, which was based on

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